# Ecological risks of pasture diversity in regenerative agriculture

Evelyn Charlesworth Lucy Bennett Greer Manderson Caitlin Wallis Claire Gordon





# Table of Contents

Executive Summary2
1. Introduction
2. Literature Review, Theory & Concepts4
3. Methods5
3.1 Interviews5
3.2 Qualitative Research
3.3 Quantitative Weed Risk Assessment
4. Results7
4.1 Interview Findings7
4.2 Seed Lists9
4.3 Weed Risk Assessment9
4.3.1 Hazard Scoring: Plant impacts9
4.3.2 Exposure Scoring: Chances of spreading 10
4.3.3 Total Scores & Comparison to DOC and Environment Canterbury Seed Lists 11
4.4 Area Vulnerability
4.5 Russell Lupin
4.6 Mitigation & Avoidance 14
5. Discussion15
5.1 Limitations17
5.2 Broader Context
6. Conclusion
Acknowledgements
References 19
Appendices

# **Executive Summary**

- Given the need to transition towards a more sustainable future and the global issue of climate change, regenerative agriculture (RA) has become increasingly common in New Zealand. RA aims to improve soil and ecosystem health via minimal soil disturbance, reduced synthetic inputs, and diverse pastures. Although RA is gaining increased attention, there are limited scientific studies on it in a New Zealand context.
- Our research question was 'What are the ecological risks of pasture diversity in regenerative agriculture across a variety of habitats in Canterbury?'. Our research aimed to determine common species used in diverse pastures, investigate the risk of these species becoming invasive, evaluate how this risk may vary between ecological regions and lastly, determine strategies to avoid and mitigate invasive species.
- This study used a mixed-methods approach. Data was collected through semistructured interviews from people across a range of disciplines relevant to our research question. Common species used in diverse pastures were identified based on species present on two RA seed lists, which were not present on conventional agriculture seed supplier websites. These species were assessed by conducting a Weed Risk Assessment (WRA). Data collection for this was completed via literature analysis.
- Interview responses highlighted that there are a range of factors that will influence whether a species will become invasive, such as management and its surrounding environment. The risk of species becoming invasive is also not confined to regenerative farming systems. Interviews and literature analysis suggested invasive species generally would not get the chance to dominate on the Canterbury Plains, however, if something was to become invasive this would have high consequences for the indigenous remnants.

Eight RA-specific species were identified and investigated in our WRA. Russell Lupin had the highest total score of 17.5/21. Timothy and Sunflower had the second highest score of 15/21. Russell Lupin was discussed in interviews and is present on both Environment Canterbury (ECan) and Department of Conservation (DOC) weed lists, therefore was investigated further. Literature analysis highlighted that

Russell Lupin is well adapted to braided rivers, and seeds rapidly spread via waterways. Therefore, braided rivers in both the Canterbury Plains and Mackenzie Basin were considered high risk environments for Russell Lupin invasion.

- The scope of our research is limited to the Canterbury region and only investigates one practice within RA; diverse pastures. A key limitation of the research was the number of RA seed lists used to identify 'common species'. Whilst these lists gave us an understanding of the range of species used in diverse pastures, they did not provide insight into the frequency of which these species are used in Canterbury. Furthermore, our own scoring system was developed for four variables within our WRA. Scores were generated for each species based on literature analysis rather than primary observations, which may be limiting.
- Future research could expand the study beyond the Canterbury region to investigate how species of concern vary across other regions in New Zealand. Enhancing the validity of results through more expansive data collection of regenerative seed lists is recommended.

### 1. Introduction

Our project explored the risks and opportunities of regenerative agriculture (RA). RA is broadly defined as agricultural practices that improve and restore soil health, enhancing their capability of carbon sequestration (Gosnell, Gill, & Voyer, 2019). Recently, RA has gained traction across New Zealand's agricultural scene and the mainstream media. Many of the positive claims about RA are anecdotal, which whilst hold value, are not always supported with scientific evidence (McGuire, 2018). Given the positive focus on RA, we decided to investigate its possible adverse impacts. Our research question was: *What are the ecological risks of pasture diversity in RA across a variety of habitats in Canterbury?* Our research focused on one practice in RA, diverse pastures, as RA was too broad to cover holistically, especially with the timeframe and resources available.

Our research aims were to:

- 1. Establish the most common species used in RA diverse pastures, which were not considered to be used in conventional agriculture.
- 2. Investigate the ecological risk of species sown in diverse pastures becoming invasive.

- 3. Examine the vulnerability of the Mackenzie Basin (MB) and Canterbury Plains (CP) and how the risk of species becoming invasive may vary between these ecological regions.
- 4. Determine strategies to mitigate or avoid the risk of invasive species.

This report outlines the methods used for data collection and analysis, as well as the results that ensued, and their meaning in the broader context of RA. Our research highlights the potential risks of pasture diversity in RA, whilst still acknowledging the benefits of regenerative practices.

# 2. Literature Review, Theory & Concepts

To improve our initial understanding of RA, we researched its benefits concerning soil carbon sequestration, soil water retention and filtration, soil erosion, the implications of increased pasture diversity, and on-farm practices involved in RA.

The literature review regarding pasture diversity aligned most with our research question. Diverse pastures improve soil health, and enhance carbon sequestration, thus influencing climate change mitigation (Tickell, 2020). Farmers benefit economically due to increased yield and production stability, which is crucial under a changing climate (Buzdhygan et al., 2020; Isbell et al., 2015; Weisser et al., 2017). This leads to greater financial stability and farmer wellbeing. Furthermore, nutritional quality of products increase (Buzdhygan et al., 2020), which has ripple effects on human health both nationally and internationally.

The other literature reviews were not as useful as they did not directly align with our research question. However, they still provided context which helped to situate relevant knowledge and refine both our research focus and design. For example, initially we considered focusing our study on soil carbon sequestration, however, methodology used in existing studies highlighted how primary data collection for soil carbon sequestration is resource intensive and requires observation of up to two years (McNally et al., 2015). Such methods would not be viable considering the twelve-week timeframe of this project.

Other aspects of the literature aided method formation regarding secondary data collection. Gosnell et al. (2019) used semi-structured interviews and snowball sampling to gather a sample of farmers who practiced RA. This influenced our methodology refinement.

The literature review focussing on the practices used in RA helped to develop the definitions for this project. RA exists on a continuum, therefore is hard to define. RA was

not defined for any other purpose than this research project. Based on literature reviews, RA considers anyone who is conducting one of more of the following practices; minimal soil disturbance, diverse pastures, reduced/no synthetic inputs, integrated livestock, and utilising cover crops. For our study, we considered diverse pastures as having more than five pasture species. We acknowledge that 'conventional agriculture' also exists on a continuum, therefore we considered 'conventional farms' as those which fall outside our RA definition.

The definition we used for invasive species was "Invasive species are non-native species that arrive in a new area, establish and increase in density and distribution to the detriment of the recipient environment." (Brenton-Rule et al., 2016, p. 17). Weeds were analysed from a conservation and environmental perspective, rather than a productive or economic one.

# 3. Methods

#### 3.1 INTERVIEWS

Interviews were conducted to gain an in-depth knowledge of RA and the broader topics within our research question. Snowball sampling was used to gather interview participants relevant to the subject in question (Gomez & Jones, 2010). Participants had a variety of backgrounds; we spoke to people such as consultants, ecologists, scientists, and regenerative farmers. Random sampling would not have been relevant for the study as RA is still a niche farming system in New Zealand.

Contacts of potential participants were retrieved from our community partner, and contact was made via email. If participants registered their interest, an ethics email was sent. This outlined the context of their participation, how the information was going to be used, a withdrawal date whereby they could refuse participation in the research project and therefore the inclusion of any information they provided, and the option to remain anonymous. Interviews were conducted via Zoom or phone call, and were recorded for transcription. Interviews were semi-structured which allowed us to explore ideas that we may not have thought about or incorporated into our questions, and ensured similar themes could be identified when analysing the interviews (Lewis-Beck et al., 2004). To analyse the qualitative interview data, responses were separated into five themes: RA perceptions/personal definitions, benefits of RA, grazing and management, invasive species, and other points of interest.

#### 3.2 QUALITATIVE RESEARCH

In order to select the RA species to look into further, we collected seed lists from a RA consultant and Symbiosis, a RA seed supplier (J. King, personal communication, August 21, 2020; Symbiosis, 2020b). These were compared to conventional agriculture seed lists sourced from PGG, Carrfields, and Agricom websites (Agricom, n.d.; Carrfields, 2020; PGG Wrightson Seeds, 2020) Only species present on both of the RA seed lists were investigated, as shown in Appendix A. Importantly, we are not claiming that the species investigated are used exclusively in RA, but for the purpose of this research, species were selected that were not present on any of the conventional seed lists analysed. The species selected were further investigated through literature analysis, with the aim of conducting a Weed Risk Assessment (WRA). Literature analysis was also used to investigate the vulnerability of CP and MB to invasive species.

#### 3.3 QUANTITATIVE WEED RISK ASSESSMENT

A WRA was devised to assign a number that represents the potential invasiveness of the selected plant species. The WRA score was adapted from the Department of Conservation (DOC) *New Conservation Weed Risk Assessment* (NCWR) (Williams & Newfield, 2002). Scores for plant attributes had a range of 0-2 and equal weighting was given to each score to ensure an unbiased result. Higher scores indicated attributes that are more favourable for invasiveness.

Hazard was defined as the impact of the plant species of interest, which the NCWR assessment explained can be determined by the biomass of the plant and how well it persists in certain locations (Williams & Newfield, 2002). The impact score was calculated based on maximum plant height relative to natives, optimal growing conditions, (generalist vs. specialist species), and root structure, which was described rather than scored. Height was based on assessing the maximum height of the species of interest compared to the maximum height of prominent native vegetation species of the Mackenzie; *Fescue norae-zelandiae, Chionochloa rubra, Chionochloa rigida* and *Poa colensoi* (Connor & Vucetich, 1964; Molloy et al., 1998; Norton et al., 2006). Exposure was defined as the chance of the plant species spreading. This was determined by the plants dispersal method, seed viability, palatability and average regeneration time. Seed viability was scored based on whether the plant had a soft or hard seed coats. Hard seed coats protect the seed, increasing seed longevity (Becquerel, 1906, as cited in Mohamed-Yasseen et al., 1994). Average regeneration time was based on whether the plant is an annual or perennial. Perennial species scored higher as they produce seed more frequently than annual species, and over

consecutive years. Their seeds are also more likely to germinate than those of annual species which produce seed once a year, then die (USFWS, 2008). Scoring systems for both hazard and exposure attributes are shown in Appendix B.

To calculate the total risk score, the hazard score was multiplied by the exposure score. To assess the validity of the scoring, weed risk was also qualitatively assessed by determining if the species investigated were present on the Environment Canterbury (ECan) *Declared Pests for Canterbury* list and the *DOC Weed Species* list (Environment Canterbury, n.d.-a; Howell, 2008).

# 4. Results

#### 4.1 INTERVIEW FINDINGS

Overall, RA was perceived as positive. One interviewee believed that it could improve the environment by increasing soil health and mitigating climate change (W. Shaw, personal communication, September 1, 2020). Specific quotes from interviews are outlined in Table 1. Multiple interviewees acknowledged the lack of formal definition for RA (D. Norton, personal communication, August 14, 2020; T. James, personal communication, August 19, 2020). One interviewee believed this to be suited to RA as it exists on a continuum (D. Norton, personal communication, August 14, 2020).

Several interview participants believed there would only be a risk of species becoming invasive if regenerative farmers were importing new species. The Ministry for Primary Industries closely regulates what plant species can be imported into New Zealand, and several interviewees emphasised how difficult it would be to import something new (G. Bourdôt, personal communication, August 19, 2020; T. James, personal communication, August 19, 2020; T. James, personal communication, August 19, 2020). Participants also pointed out that regenerative farmers are no more likely than conventional farmers to create a weed risk if they are using species already established in New Zealand (G. Bourdôt, personal communication, August 19, 2020).

Interviewees acknowledged the complexities of determining whether a species will become invasive. Invasiveness is based on a large range of factors, and therefore is difficult to predict. It was concluded that the practice of diverse pastures would not directly lead to invasiveness; instead it depends on the surrounding environment (e.g. soil conditions), and management (C. Buddenhagen, personal communication, August 19, 2020; G. Bourdôt, personal communication, August 19, 2020; J. Frew, September 1, 2020).

Participants mentioned two species of concern: Russell Lupin and Hieracium (B. Allan, personal communication, August 26, 2020; T. James, personal communication, August 19, 2020). Whilst we thoroughly investigated Russell Lupin, we did not look into Hieracium. Although Hieracium is a weed in the MB, it is not a species used in RA<sup>1</sup>, and therefore was irrelevant to our research question.

**Table 1:** Key quotes from interviews separated into sub-themes.

Regenerative Agriculture (RA)	Invasive Species	Grazing & Management	Mackenzie Basin & Canterbury Plains
"One of the big criticisms of RA is that it doesn't have a definition, but this is the whole point of it - it doesn't need a definition because it is on a continuum"	"RA people might be sowing species that are already in NZ, then if these things present a risk, then that risk is already here, so sowing these things is probably not going to increase the risk of weediness"	"Never going to come down to the plant on what actually happens. It's going to come down to the management."	<ul> <li><b>"Depends on the plant</b>, what its origins are and how they function in their natural environments and then what they encounter when they are put into a new place.</li> <li>It's not as simple as being just able to say things are potentially highly invasive or otherwise because they change over time."</li> </ul>
"There are some really fundamental issues here about how we deal with the environment and our carbon footprint going forward. RA will help these problems"	"It's not only RA farmers who are likely to create a weed risk all agriculture does that and we shouldn't contemplate the idea that RA is necessarily going to be a much riskier system then any of our other farming systems"	"considering the landscape is important in whether you consider something to be invasive or not and some landscapes are much more susceptible or prone to invasion by species"	"The <b>MB</b> is potentially at greater risk because of open habitat, 800 years of degradation, but the consequences on the Canterbury plains would be much higher if something did get out and get into a bankside/reserve because it's all we have."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hieracium was accidentally introduced to NZ as a seed mix contaminant in the late 1800s

#### 4.2 SEED LISTS

The eight RA species investigated in regard to their risk of becoming invasive are shown in Figure 1. These species were chosen using the seed lists outlined in Appendix A.



Lotus (Lotus pedunculatus) Symbiosis. (2020). Lotus. Retrieved from <u>https://symbiosis.co.nz/cov</u> er-crops/legumes/lotus/



Yarrow (Archillea millefolium) Symbiosis. (2020). Yarrow. Retrieved from https://symbiosis.co.nz/yarrow/



Phacelia (Phacelia tanacetifolia) Symbiosis. (2020). Phacelia. Retrieved from S https://symbiosis.co.nz/phacelia/



Tillage Radish (Raphanus sativus) Symbiosis. (2020). Tillage Radish. Retrieved from https://symbiosis.co.nz/fillage-radish/



Linseed (Linum usitatissimum) Cover Crops. (n.d.). Linseed/Flaxseed. Retrieved from https://covercrops.co.nz/Linseed-Fla x-seed/



Timothy (Phleum pratense) Symbiosis. (2020). Timothy. Retrieved from https://symbiosis.co.nz/cover-crops/gras ses/timothy/



Russell Lupin (Lupinus polyphyllus) Symbiosis. (2020). Lupins. Retrieved from https://symbiosis.co.nz/cover-crops/l edumes/lupins/



Sunflower (Helianthus annus) ProFlowers. (2014). How Do Sunflowers Reproduce? Retrieved from https://www.proflowers.com/blog/ho w-do-sunflowers.reproduce

**Figure 1.** Images and scientific names of the eight species chosen based on their presence on the two regenerative agriculture seed lists analysed and non-presence on conventional agriculture lists.

#### 4.3 WEED RISK ASSESSMENT

#### 4.3.1 Hazard Scoring: Plant impacts

Table 2 shows that Lotus had the lowest hazard score (1), whilst Sunflower had the highest (3). Sunflower has a maximum height of 182cm, and was considered a generalist as it grows in a variety of soil types and climates (Putnam et al., n.d.; Warrick, n.d.).

Timothy and Russell Lupin had the second highest hazard score (2.5). ECan (2016) explained that Russell Lupin can grow up to 150cm. It was scored 1.5 for optimal growing conditions as although it grows well in low fertility soils, because it fixes nitrogen and tolerates aluminium toxicity, it does not grow well in clay soils and prefers damp, gravel soils (DOC, 2010; Scott, 1989).

Timothy has a maximum height of 150cm (CABI, 2020; Cotswold Grass Seeds Direct, 2020a). Timothy was scored 1.5 for optimal growing conditions as it grows in silt, loam, clay, and gravel soils (Wasser, 1982, as cited in Fire Effects Information System, 2020). Additionally, it grows well in shade and can withstand winter flooding (Copper, 1973, Mudd & Mair, 1961, as cited in Charlton & Stewart, 2000). However, Timothy prefers moist, fertile soils and does not tolerate drought (Molyneus & Davies 1983, Langer, 1953, Sampson et al., 1951, as cited in Charlton & Stewart, 2000). Initial literature analysis produced an optimal growing conditions score of 2 for Timothy, based on its ability to withstand a variety of soil types according to an American study (Fire Effects Information System, 2020). However, upon further literature analysis of a New Zealand study, we scored optimal growing conditions for Timothy as 1.5 based on its intolerance to drought and preference of moist, high fertility soils (Charlton & Stewart, 2000). As a result, Timothy's overall risk score was changed from 18 to 15.

Literature analysis of Yarrow highlighted that it has a rhizome root structure (Massey University, 2016). Consequently, Yarrow is difficult to kill as it spreads rapidly via these rhizomes (Massey University, 2016). Although root structure was not quantitatively scored due to lack of literature, the fact Yarrow has rhizomes is important to consider when evaluating its potential invasiveness.

#### 4.3.2 Exposure Scoring: Chances of spreading

As shown in Table 2, Tillage Radish and Phacelia had the lowest exposure score (3) whilst Russell Lupin had the highest score (7). Russell Lupin's primary seed dispersal method is via waterways, it has hard seed coats, and is a perennial plant (ECan, 2016; Bass, 1980, as cited in Mohamed-Yasseen et al., 1994). They contain alkaloids, making them bitter at certain times of the year, and therefore less palatable, thus scoring a 1 (Wink, 1987, as cited in Berenji et al., 2018; Scott, 1989).

Timothy and Linseed had the second highest exposure score (6). Timothy is primarily dispersed by wind and livestock, possesses hard seed coats, and is a highly palatable, perennial grass (CABI, 2020; Fire Effects Information System, 2020). Linseed is an annual species with low palatability, and hard seed coats (Cotswold Grass Seeds Direct, 2020a;

Smith & Froment, 1998; Symbiosis, 2020a). There was limited literature on seed dispersal methods. Therefore, it was scored a 2 as the DOC NCWR assessment explained higher scores are given when there is lack of information for certain attributes (Williams et al., 2005).

#### 4.3.3 Total Scores & Comparison to DOC and Environment Canterbury Seed Lists

Overall, Table 2 shows that Russell Lupin, Sunflower and Timothy had the highest total scores (17.5, 15 and 15, respectively). Russell Lupin was the only species present on both the ECan *Declared Pests for Canterbury* list and the *DOC Consolidated Weed List*, therefore was investigated further (ECan, n.d. - a; Howell, 2008; Williams et al., 2002). None of the species were present on the *MPI Pest and Disease Search* (MPI, 2020).

Deliberately left blank

**Table 2:** Quantitative Weed Risk Assessment (WRA) results for the eight selected species and qualitativeweed risk results from ECan and DOC weed list comparison.

SPECIES		Phacelia	Sunflower	Lotus	Yarrow	Timothy	Linseed	Russell Lupin	Tillage Radish
	Max Height of plant*	92cm 0	182cm 1	80cm 0	60cm 0	150cm 1	100cm 0	150cm 1	92cm 0
<u>Hazard</u> = Plant Impacts	Root structure*	Tap root + Fibrous	Tap root	Fibrous Central tap Shallow	<u>Rhizome</u>	Shallow and fibrous – up to 120cm deep	Shallow Tap root Lateral roots	Deep Tap Root	Tap root
	Optimal growing conditions*	2	2	1	2	1.5	2	1.5	2
HAZARD TO	DTAL SCORE:	2	3	1	2	2.5	2	2.5	2
	Dispersal method	1	2	1	2	2	2	2	1
	Seed viability	1	2	2	1	2	2	2	1
<u>Exposure</u>	Palatability*	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0
= Chances of spreading	Average regeneration time*	1	1	1	2	2	1	2	1
EXPOSURE SCORE:	TOTAL	3	5	5	5	6	6	7	3
TOTAL RISK Risk = haza	SCORE: rd x exposure	6	15	5	10	15	12	17.5	6
Present on declared pe Canterbury	ECan ests for ? (Y/N)	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν
Present of I species list	DOC Weed ? (Y/N)	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν
Present on disease sea	MPI pest and rch? (Y/N)	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν

#### 4.4 AREA VULNERABILITY

One of our interview participants discussed that invasive species generally would not get the opportunity to dominate in the CP as opposed to the MB. They further explained that management in the area contributes to this (B. Allan, personal communication, August 26, 2020). Furthermore, the CP is a highly modified system where exotic species dominate and limited indigenous biodiversity remains (Bowie et al., 2016; Cieraad et al., 2015). *Statement of evidence* (2016) discussed the ecological significance of the MB. The MB contains up to 81 at-risk or threatened plant species, some of which are unique to the dryland environment of the MB (Forest & Bird, 2018; *Statement of evidence*, 2016). This may increase the vulnerability of the area in terms of native biodiversity loss if something was to become invasive.

One of our interview participants highlighted that whilst there is a lower risk of invasive species becoming dominant in the CP, if something was to become invasive, this would have high consequences for the patches of remaining indigenous vegetation, due to the rarity of these ecosystems (Ecroyd & Brockerhoff, 2005; D. Norton, personal communication, August 14, 2020).

While these factors contribute to the vulnerability of an area to an invasive species, it is difficult to definitively say whether one area is more vulnerable than another. As one of our interview participants explained, this depends on other factors such as management (P. Barrett, personal communication, August 14, 2020).

#### 4.5 RUSSELL LUPIN

Russell Lupin grows well in soils within the MB which have a low pH and high levels of aluminium (Berenji et al., 2018; David, 1981, as cited in White 1995). Rhizobia enable them to withstand high concentrations of aluminium (Ryan-Salter et al., 2014, as cited in Berenji et al., 2018, Scott 1989). Furthermore, Russell Lupin are nitrogen fixers, thus can overcome nitrogen deficiencies in soils (Moot 2012 as cited in Berenji et al., 2018; DOC, 2010; Peat & Patrick, 2001 as cited in Javernick, 2013)

Russell Lupin primarily disperses seed via waterways, thus transporting them large distances from the parent plant (ECan, 2016). Concerns of Russell Lupin invading river beds was also discussed in multiple interviews (B. Allan, personal communication, August 26, 2020; T. James, personal communication, August 19, 2020). Although Russell Lupin is well adapted to MB soils, land that is distant from waterways has a low risk of it

becoming invasive as seed is unable to be effectively dispersed (ECan, 2016). For example, a study at the Mt John field site observed no accidental spread of Russell Lupin at trial sites distant from waterways (ECan, 2016).

Based on these findings and utilising Canterbury Maps Viewer (n.d.), areas that should be considered high risk environments to Russell Lupin include land adjacent to the three major braided rivers within the CP. Additionally, Wilson (2001) as cited in Javernick (2013) identified that 32,308ha in the Upper Waitaki Basin within the MB is riverbeds. Therefore, these areas are also high risk environments.

Russell Lupin is considered a weed as it removes nesting space and provides cover for predators which is detrimental to endangered native birds (Otago Regional Council, 2019; Wardle, 2016). Furthermore, dense cover of Russell Lupin traps silt, stabilising river banks, which can result in channels transitioning from braided to meandering (Holdaway & Sparrow, 2006; Javernick, 2013). Lastly, according to Wardle (2016) control of Russell Lupin in braided river systems is expensive, costing DOC up to \$150,000 (NZD) annually.

#### 4.6 MITIGATION & AVOIDANCE

Grazing can be used to control the spread of Russell Lupin as it is palatable to livestock. Russell Lupin should only be planted in areas where grazing can be utilised in order to minimise unwanted spread, such as pastures distanced from waterways (ECan, 2016). According to Frost & Launchbaugh (2003), grazing management must consider plant ecology and plant-animal interactions in order to be successful. Species should be grazed when they are most palatable to livestock and therefore most susceptible to defoliation. The time of grazing should also be considered. As the growing season progresses, plants invest more resources into seed production rather than growth, therefore grazing at this time inhibits dispersal and does not allow for their regrowth. Furthermore, to reduce harm to desired plant species, grazing should be implemented when they are at their greatest tolerance to grazing pressure. Seed predation by livestock also greatly reduces the risk of spread.

Though the principles of RA aim to reduce synthetic inputs, chemical control is a possible mitigation option. There are herbicides which are suitable for controlling Russell Lupin that do not kill native grasses and are safe around waterways (ECan, 2016).

Other mitigation methods for Russell Lupin include hand pulling, which is suitable when removing small patches, and shading, as Russell Lupin is intolerant to moderate shade (ECan 2016; ECan 2018, ECan, n.d.-c).

Monitoring is crucial in order to ensure the implementation of mitigation methods (ECan, 2016). However, success of monitoring depends on the regularity and thoroughness of it. In some cases, it may be more appropriate to avoid planting Russell Lupin altogether. As shown in Table 3, ECan (n.d.-c) and the Otago Regional Council (2019) have outlined that Russell Lupin cannot be present in buffer zones adjacent to waterways. Avoidance may therefore be the best option, as management and mitigation efforts may not stop Russell Lupin becoming invasive.

Waterway size	Required buffer zone
Large braided river: 100m + in width	200m
Smaller streams: <100m wide	50m
Farm drains flowing into rivers	5m
Any artificial watercourse	10m
An adjoining property boundary	10m

**Table 3:** Required buffer zones when planting Russell Lupin near waterways. Source: Adapted from Environment Canterbury (n.d.-c) & Otago Regional Council (2020).

# 5. Discussion

In exploring our research question "What are the ecological risks of pasture diversity in regenerative agriculture across a variety of habitats in Canterbury?" we did not find a straightforward answer.

A key finding from this research is that the invasiveness of a pasture species comes down to its environment. For example, despite the prevalence of Russell Lupin in interviews and academic literature, we found from the WRA that it is only of great risk on land adjacent to rivers, particularly in the MB where soils are acidic and high in aluminium (Berenji et al., 2018; ECan, 2016).

Consequently, management plays a large role in reducing the likelihood of a plant species becoming invasive. We have identified three potential management practices:

- 1. Do not plant a species in an area where it is likely to become invasive due to its characteristics and the complementarity of that environment. For example, do not plant Russell Lupin near waterways.
- 2. Grazing management. Species used within RA pastures are palatable to livestock. Therefore, grazing livestock can reduce or eliminate the dispersal of the potentially invasive species when carried out successfully.

However, the issue posed for these two strategies is enforcement and sustained monitoring to ensure that these management practices are being implemented correctly.

3. Sow species that occupy the same niche as the invasive species. This is about removing the opportunity for the invasive species to grow; e.g. planting a usable non-invasive tap root species which occupies the niche of an invasive tap-root species. For example, an early study conducted in Geraldine, New Zealand, showed that a diverse species mix including chicory, a tap-rooted plant, reduced the invasion of Californian thistle, an 'invasive species' or 'weed' which is also tap-rooted (Musgrave & Daly, 2004). This was in comparison to a rye-grass monoculture. Alternatively, this may be more complex in regard to addressing underlying soil issues, such as an imbalanced C:N ratio or nutrient deficiencies, that are providing the opportunity and environment for the invasive species to thrive (J. Frew, personal communication, September 1, 2020).

An additional conclusion is that there is no greater risk of the species used within RA becoming invasive than the ones used in conventional agriculture (G. Bourdôt, personal communication, August 19, 2020). The species used within RA are already in New Zealand, therefore any threat of a pasture species becoming invasive comes down to the management of them. This can also be applied to conventional agriculture. Furthermore, species used in conventional monocultures are just as likely, if not more, to become invasive due to the sheer abundance of a single species; "Everything can dominate, but it comes down to how much of it you put in the environment" (P. Barrett, personal communication, August 14, 2020). In RA the diversity of pastures does not allow for such dominance.

#### 5.1 LIMITATIONS

Upon critical analysis of our research and associated results, we identified three main limitations:

1. The number of seed lists we used to identify species used in RA. We had only two regenerative seed lists, and though this gave us an idea of the type of species used in RA, it is not representative of how commonly used these species are in Canterbury.

2. We adopted our own WRA. Due to time restrictions, we assigned scores based on literature reviews, rather than primary observations. As literature was from a variety of sources, there may be inconsistencies between how the attributes within our WRA were measured (e.g. how plant height was measured or palatability was assessed). Individual perception of literature findings may have also influenced the scoring within our WRA categories, despite having a defined criteria for our scoring system (Appendix B). Furthermore, some attributes were difficult to allocate a score to, such as root structure, as information on how this impacts species invasiveness was limited. Thus, scores may over/underestimate species invasiveness.

3. The definitions we used are specific to our study. Both 'regenerative agriculture' and 'invasive species' do not have widely accepted definitions. RA is a relatively new concept, therefore no definition has been constructed, whilst invasive species has a variety of definitions of which one cannot be agreed upon.

#### 5.2 BROADER CONTEXT

We found that many of the goals of RA align with the mana whenua value of kaitiakitanga in regard to the environment: protecting and improving the land and mahinga kai for the current generation and those that follow. Additionally, some goals of Ngāi Tahu, as outlined in the Iwi Management Plan (Jolly et al., 2013), align with the ideals of RA, thus may promote partnership and further engagement with mana whenua in implementing regenerative practices.

RA is gaining significant traction in being recognised for its far-reaching benefits. Academic literature highlighted that implementing diverse pastures has substantial positive consequences; such as improved soil structure and water use efficiency, as well as greater ecosystem biodiversity, stability, and function (Buzdhygan et al., 2020; Isbell et al., 2015; Weisser et al., 2017). Examples of what ensues include reduced nitrogen losses into waterways, resilience against climate extremes, increased financial stability, and improved

health and wellbeing of both farmers and consumers (Finger & Buchmann, 2015; Isbell et al., 2015; Weisser et al., 2017). Of most prominence, RA sequesters carbon, thus highlighting it as a key player towards mitigating or reversing climate change (Lange et al., 2015).

### 6. Conclusion

In summary, there is no straightforward answer to our research question. However, our research has identified species of concern in terms of becoming invasive, as well as management strategies for these. Russell Lupin poses the greatest risk of becoming invasive near waterways based on both interview findings and WRA results. When assessing ecological risk across a variety of habitats in Canterbury, whether a species within diverse pastures becomes invasive depends on the surrounding environment and management of that area.

For future research, it would be beneficial to expand this study beyond the Canterbury region to investigate how species of concern vary spatially. More extensive collection of seed lists from regenerative farms is also needed to gain a robust understanding of which species are most commonly used in diverse pastures.

Given that the potential adverse impacts of pasture diversity can be prevented or mitigated, and do not apply to RA alone, it is difficult to overlook the positive effects RA has on the environment, human health and wellbeing, as well as the benefit it can provide to New Zealand's economy due to our significant dependence on agriculture.

# Acknowledgements

Thank you to our supervisor, Hadee, for her continued support throughout our project. Thank you to our community partner, Di Lucas, for the opportunity to work and collaborate on this project. Finally, thank you to all of our interview participants for the knowledge they shared with us; Bruce Allan, Peter Barrett, Graeme Bourdôt, Chris Buddenhagen, Jono Frew, Nicholas Head, Trevor James, John King, Bill Martin, David Norton, Henry Pinckney and Willie Shaw. Many of the research participants involved in this study may not have not conducted research on RA itself. However, their knowledge relates to aspects of our research question which was valuable in order for us to gain an in-depth, holistic view of RA and the effects it may have. This knowledge was vital due to the lack of scientific literature available on this subject.

#### <u>Disclaimer</u>

The views, information, or opinions ("the information") expressed in the interviews and this report are solely those of the individuals giving that information and do not necessarily represent those of those individual's employers and/or its employees generally. The individuals will not be held responsible in any way for any third-party reliance on the information and they assume no responsibility or liability for any errors or omissions in the information. The information is provided on an "as is" basis, with no guarantee of completeness, accuracy, usefulness or timeliness.

### References

Agricom. (n.d.). Growing the future on a fertile foundation. https://www.agricom.co.nz/

Berenji, S., Mills, A., Moir, J. L., Pollock, K. M., Murrary, W., Murrary, E., & Moot, D. J. (2018). Dry matter yield of six legume species in response to lime over 3 years in Glenmore Station, Mackenzie Basin. *Journal of New Zealand Grasslands*, *80*, 81-90. https://researcharchive.lincoln.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10182/10844/Berenji%20et%20al %202018%20Dry%20matter%20yield%20of%20six.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

Bowie, M. H., Black, L., Boyer, S., Dickinson, N. M., & Hodge, S. (2016). Persistence of biodiversity in a dryland remnant within an intensified dairy farm landscape. *New Zealand journal of ecology*, *40*(1), 121-130. https://doi.org/10.20417/nzjecol.40.14

Brenton-Rule, E., Frankel, S., & Lester, P. (2016). Improving management of invasive species: New Zealand's approach to pre- and post-border pests. *Policy quarterly (Victoria University of Wellington. Institute for Governance and Policy Studies), 12*(1), 17-25. https://doi.org/10.26686/pq.v12i1.4582

Buzdhygan, O. Y., Meyer, S. T., Weisser, W. W., Eisenhauer, N., Ebeling, A., Borrett, S. R., Buchmann, N., Cortois, R., De Deyn, G. B., de Kroon, H., Gleixner, G., Hertzog, L. R., Hines, J., Lange, M., Mommer, L., Ravenek, J., Scherber, C., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Scheu, S.,...Petermann, J. S. (2020). Biodiversity increases multitrophic energy use efficiency, flow and storage in grasslands. *Nature Ecology and Evolution*, *4*, 393-405. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-020-1123-8

CABI. (2020). *Phleum pratense (timothy grass)*. Invasive Species Compendium. <u>https://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/40248#todistribution</u>

Carrfields. (2020). *Grain & Seed Products*. <u>https://www.carrfields.co.nz/our-divisions/grain-seed/products/</u>

Charlton, J. F., & Stewart, A. V. (2000). Timothy - the plant and its use on New Zealand farms. *Journal of New Zealand Grasslands*, 62, 147-153. https://doi.org/10.33584/jnzg.2000.62.2365

Cieraad, E., Walker, S., Price, R., & Barringer, J. (2015). An updated assessment of indigenous cover remaining and legal protection in New Zealand's land environments. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology*, *39*(2), 309-315. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26198729

Connor, H. E., & Vucetich, C. G. (1964). Tussock grassland communities in the Mackenzie Country, South Canterbury, New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Botany*, 2(4), 325-351. https://doi.org/10.1080/0028825X.1964.10428730

Cotswold Grass Seeds Direct. (2020a). *Linseed*. https://www.cotswoldseeds.com/species/104/linseed

Department of Conservation [DOC]. (2010). *River Life: Explore the ecology of braided rivers in the Mackenzie Basin* (Education Resource 2010). Canterbury Conservancy Christchurch, New Zealand. https://www.doc.govt.nz/globalassets/documents/getting-involved/students-and-teachers/themes/river-life/river-life-teaching-resource.pdf

Ecroyd, C. E., & Brockerhoff, E. G. (2005). Floristic changes over 30 years in a Canterbury Plains kānuka forest remnant, and comparison with adjacent vegetation types. *New Zealand journal of ecology*, *29*(2), 279-290. https://www.jstor.org/stable/24058184

Environment Canterbury (2018). *Canterbury Regional Pest Management Plan 2018-2038*. <u>https://www.ecan.govt.nz/your-region/plans-strategies-and-bylaws/canterbury-regional-pest-management-plan/</u>

Environment Canterbury. (2016). *Establishment and management of Russell lupin based pastures for grazing in high country systems*. *DRAFT*. https://api.ecan.govt.nz/TrimPublicAPI/documents/download/3264085 Environment Canterbury. (n.d.-a). *Managing plant pests*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ecan.govt.nz/your-region/your-environment/our-natural-environment/pest-management/plant-pests/</u>

Environment Canterbury. (n.d.-c). Wild Russell Lupin - what you need to know.

Finger, R., & Buchmann, N. (2015). An ecological economic assessment of risk-reducing effects of species diversity in managed grasslands. *Ecological Economics*, *110*, 89-97. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2014.12.019

Fire Effects Information System. (2020). *Species: Phleum pratense*. Index of Species Information. <u>https://www.fs.fed.us/database/feis/plants/graminoid/phlpra/all.html</u>

Forest & Bird. (2018). *Mackenzie Country*. https://www.forestandbird.org.nz/campaigns/mackenzie-country

Frost, R. A., & Launchbaugh, K. L. (2003). Prescription Grazing for Rangeland Weed Management. *Rangelands*, *25*(6), 43-47. https://s3.wp.wsu.edu/uploads/sites/2080/2014/02/Grazing-for-weed-control11.pdf

Gomez, B., & Jones, J. P. (2010). *Research methods in geography: A critical introduction*. Malden, MA;Chichester, West Sussex, U.K;: Wiley-Blackwell.

Gosnell, H., Gill, N., & Voyer, M. (2019). Transformational adaptation on the farm: Processes of change and persistence in transitions to 'climate-smart' regenerative agriculture. *Global environmental change*, *59*, 101965. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2019.101965

Holdaway, R. J., & Sparrow, A. D. (2006). Assembly Rules Operating along a Primary Riverbed-Grassland Successional Sequence. *The Journal of ecology*, *94*(6), 1092-1102. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2006.01170.x

Howell, C. (2008). *Consolidated list of environmental weeds in New Zealand*. Wellington, New Zealand: Science & Technical Publishing. Department of Conservation. https://www.doc.govt.nz/globalassets/documents/science-and-technical/drds292.pdf

Isbell, F., Craven, D., Connolly, J., Loreau, M., Schmid, B., Beierkuhnlein, C., Martijn Bezemer, T., Bonin, C., Bruelheide, H., de Luca, E., Ebeling, A., Griffin, J. N., Guo, Q., Hautier, Y., Hector, A., Jentsch, A., Kreyling, J., Lanta, V., Manning, P.,...Eisenhauer, N. (2015). Biodiversity increases the resistance of ecosystem productivity to climate extremes. *Nature 526*, 574-577. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15374

Javernick, L. A. (2013). *Modeling flood-induced processes causing Russell lupin mortality in the braided Ahuriri River, New Zealand.* [Thesis, University of Canterbury]. UC Research Repository. http://dx.doi.org/10.26021/2273

Jolly, D., Te Runānga o Koukourārata, Waiwera Rūnanga, Ngāi Tūāhuriri Rūnanga, Ōnuku Rūnanga, Ngā Papatipu Rūnanga Working Group, . . . Te Hapū o Ngāti Wheke. (2013). *Mahaanui iwi management plan, 2013*. Christchurch: Ngāi Tūāhuriri Rūnanga, Te Hapū o Ngāti Wheke (Rāpaki), Te Rūnanga o Koukourārata, Ōnuku Rūnanga, Wairewa Rūnanga, Te Taumutu Rūnanga. https://mahaanuikurataiao.co.nz/wpcontent/uploads/2019/08/Full-Plan.pdf

Land Information New Zealand [LINZ]., & Environment Canterbury [ECan].(2020). *Canterbury Maps Viewer*. <u>https://mapviewer.canterburymaps.govt.nz/?webmap=a4405d79420240438afa745c0bd31</u> 010

Lange, M., Eisenhauer, N., Sierra, C. A., Bessler, H., Engels, C., Griffiths, R. I., Mellado-Vásquez, P. G., Malik, A. A., Roy, J., Scheu, S., Steinbess, S., Thomson, B. C., Trumbore, S. E., & Gleixner, G. (2015). Plant diversity increases soil microbial activity and soil carbon storage. *Nature Communications* 6(6707), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7707

Lewis-Beck, M.S., Bryman, A., & Liao T.F. (2004). Semistructured Interview. In *The SAGE Encyclopedia of Social Science Research Methods*. Retrieved September 15, 2020, https://dx-doi-org.ezproxy.canterbury.ac.nz/10.4135/9781412950589.n909

Massey University. (2016). *Yarrow*. https://www.massey.ac.nz/massey/learning/colleges/college-of-sciences/clinics-and-services/weeds-database/yarrow.cfm

McGuire, A. (2018). *Regenerative Agriculture: Solid Principles, Extraordinary Claims*. College of Agriculture, Human and Natural Resource Sciences. <u>http://csanr.wsu.edu/regen-ag-solid-principles-extraordinary-claims/</u>

McNally, S. R., Laughlin, D. C., Rutledge, S., Dodd, M. B., Six, J., & Schipper, L. A. (2015). Root carbon inputs under moderately diverse sward and conventional ryegrass-

clover pasture: Implications for soil carbon sequestration. *Plant and Soil*, 392(1-2), 289-299. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-015-2463-z

Ministry of Primary Industries [MPI]. (2020). *Pest and Disease Search*. Biosecurity New Zealand. <u>https://www.mpi.govt.nz/protection-and-response/finding-and-reporting-pests-and-diseases/pest-and-disease-search</u>

Mohamed-Yasseen, Y., Barringer, S. A., Splittstoesser, W. E., & Costanza, S. (1994). The role of seed coats in seed viability. *The Botanical review*, *60*(4), 426-439. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02857926

Molloy, L., Christie, Q. R., Hewitt, A. E., & New Zealand Society of Soil, S. (1998). *Soils in the New Zealand landscape: the living mantle* (2nd ed.). Lincoln, N.Z.: New Zealand Society of Soil Science.

Musgrave, D.J., & Daly, J. (2004). Assessment of the performance of non-ryegrass pasture mixes. *Proceedings of the New Zealand Grasslands Association*, 66, 279-282. https://www.grassland.org.nz/publications/nzgrassland\_publication\_449.pdf

Norton, D. A., Espie, P. R., Murray, W., & Murray, J. (2006). Influence of pastoral management on plant biodiversity in a depleted short tussock grassland, Mackenzie Basin. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology*, *30*(3), 335-344.

Otago Regional Council. (2019). *Wild Russell Lupin*. <u>https://www.orc.govt.nz/managing-our-environment/pest-hub/plants/wild-russell-lupin</u>

PGG Wrightson Seeds. (2020). *New Zealand's Largest Seed Company*. https://www.pggwrightsonseeds.com/

Putnam, D. H., Oplinger, E. S., Hicks, D. R., Durgan, B. R., Noetzel, D. M., Meronuck, R. A., . . . Schulte, E. E. (n.d.). *Sunflower*. Alternative Field Crops Manual. https://www.hort.purdue.edu/newcrop/afcm/sunflower.html

Scott, D. (1989). Perennial or Russell Lupin: A potential high country pasture legume. *Proceedings of the New Zealand Grassland Association 50*, 203-206. https://doi.org/10.33584/jnzg.1989.50.1886

Smith, J. M., & Froment, M. A. (1998). A growth stage key for winter linseed (Linum usitatissimum). *Annals of applied biology*, *133*(2), 297-306. doi:10.1111/j.1744-7348.1998.tb05829.x

Statement of Evidence of Nicholas John Head. (2016). Environment Court, Christchurch

Symbiosis. (2020a). Linseed. https://symbiosis.co.nz/linseed/

Symbiosis. (2020b). We are Nature!. https://symbiosis.co.nz/

Tickell, J. (Director). (2020). Kiss the Ground [Film]. Netflix.

US Fish & Wildlife Service [FWS]. (2008). *Managing Invasive Plants*. https://www.fws.gov/invasives/volunteerstrainingmodule/invasives/plants.html?fbclid=I wAR0Cmq2N9ycCgTvXjlgcpTGXklhKl8AVXPXeSM4XbogXQCEWdbin4IqtXw#:~:text=Perennials,-Perennials% 20can% 20live&text=Perennial% 20invasive% 20plants% 20are% 20usually,ve getatively% 20and% 20by% 20dispersing% 20seeds

Wardle, P. (2016). *War of the Lupins*. New Zealand Geographic. https://www.nzgeo.com/stories/war-of-the-lupins/

Warrick, B. E. (n.d.). *Sunflower-Production Guide*. Texas A&M Agrilife Research and Extension Centre at San Angelo.

https://sanangelo.tamu.edu/extension/agronomy/agronomy-publications/sunflowerproduction-guide/

Weisser, W. W., Roscher, C., Meyer, S. T., Ebeling, A., Luo, G., Allan, E., Bebler, H.,
Barnard, R.L., Buchmann, N., Buscot, F., Engles, C., Fischer, C., Fischer, M., Gessler,
M., Gessler, A., Gleixner, G., Halle, S., Hildebrandt, A., Hillebrand, H.,...Eisenhauer, N.
(2017). Biodiversity effects in ecosystem functioning in a 15-year grassland experiment:
Patterns, mechanisms, and open questions. *Elsevier Basic and Applied Ecology, 23*, 173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2017.06.002

White, J. G. H. (1995). A review of legume introduction in tussock grasslands with particular reference to species tolerant of low nutrient inputs. *Proceedings Agronomy Society of New Zealand 25*, 77-85. https://www.agronomysociety.org.nz/uploads/94803/files/1995\_15.\_Review\_-\_\_legume\_intro\_to\_tussock\_lands.pdf

Williams, P. A., & Newfield, M. (2002). *A weed risk assessment system for new conservation weeds in New Zealand*. Wellington, New Zealand: Science & Technical Publishing, New Zealand Department of Conservation.

https://dcon01mstr0c21wprod.azurewebsites.net/globalassets/documents/science-and-technical/sfc209.pdf

Williams, P. A., Boow, J., La Cock, G., & Wilson, G. (2005). *Testing the weed risk assessment system for new conservation weeds in New Zealand*. Wellington, New Zealand: Science & Technical Publishing, New Zealand Department of Conservation. https://www.doc.govt.nz/globalassets/documents/science-and-technical/drds225.pdf

Williams, P.A. Wilton, A. Spencer, N. (2002): *A proposed conservation weed risk assessment system for the New Zealand border*. Wellington, New Zealand: Science & Technical Publishing, New Zealand Department of Conservation. https://www.doc.govt.nz/Documents/science-and-technical/SFC208.pdf\_

# Appendices

**APPENDIX A:** Species list crossover between RA seed lists from supplier and consultant with conventional seed lists from PGG, Carrfields and Agricom. Seed list #1 and seed list #2 represent lists provided by Symbiosis (seed supplier) and a regenerative consultant.

Seed list #1	Seed list #2	Crossovers
Tillage	Barley	Tillage radish
radish		
Rape	Beans	Sunflower
Yellow mustard	Birdsfoot trefoil	Linseed
Brown mustard	Chicory	Lotus
Turnip	Cocksfoot	Lupins
Kale	Tillage radish	Yarrow
Alyssum	Grazing brome	Timothy
Swede	Italian ryegrass	Phacelia
Arugula	Kale	
Phacelia	Linseed	
Sunflower	Lotus	
Safflower	Lucerne	
Buckwheat	Lupins	
Black oats	Maize	
Grazing corn (maize)	Millet	
Cereal rye (ryecorn)	Oat	
Triticale	Реа	
Barley	Perennial ryegrass	
Quinoa	Phacelia	
Lamb's quarter (fat hen)	Plantain	
Chia	Prairie grass	
Faba beans	Red clover	
White clover	Sunflower	
Balansa clover	Tall fescue	
Berseem clover	Timothy	
Crimson clover	Turnip	
Lentil	White clover	
Red clover	Yarrow	
Lucerne		
Peas		
Persian clover		
Linseed		
Vetch		
Alsike clover		
Cowpeas		
Hairy vetch		
Caucasian clover		
Lotus		

Lupins	
Arrotas clover	
Subclover	
Medics	
Sweet clover	
Strawberry clover	
Sorghum sudan	
Annual ryegrass	
Millet	
Prairie grass	
Cocksfoot	
Tall fescue	
Perennial brome	
Festulolium	
Perennial ryegrass	
Crested dogstail	
Yorkshire fog	
Timothy	
Phalaris	
Chicory	
Plantain	
Borage	
Parsley	
Sheep's burnett	
Yarrow	

#### Key:

= Not present on any of the three conventional seed lists

**APPENDIX B:** Scoring system for Weed Risk Assessment adapted from NCRW weed risk assessment.



\*own score system developed otherwise from DOC NCWR